CADTH Inclusion, Diversity, Equity, and Accessibility Series

Searching for Indigenous Health Information and Knowledges

Melissa Walter Caitlyn Ford Murray Maracle



Table of Contents

Key Messages	3
What Was the Question?	
What Did We Do?	5
Initial Exploratory Scan	
Journal Analysis	
Subsequent Scan: Decolonizing Methods	6
Library Resource Acquisition	7
External Conversations	7
What Did We Find?	8
What Does This Mean?	8
References	10



Key Messages

What Was the Question?

• How can we work toward reconciliation by improving search methods for CADTH projects on Indigenous health topics?

What Did We Do?

- We scanned the library and information science literature to find mention of searching for Indigenous topics.
- We examined a list of key journals to determine their inclusion in bibliographic databases.
- We analyzed a set of evidence reviews to assess their search methods.
- We expanded the library collection to include Indigenous research methodologies.

What Did We Find?

- Standard biomedical sources for literature searching do not include the full spectrum of Indigenous health information and Indigenous Knowledges.
- Development of research and literature searching methodology for Indigenous health topics must ensure Indigenous Knowledges are respected and Indigenous communities are consulted.

What Does This Mean?

- Current search methods may not adequately retrieve relevant sources of Indigenous health information.
- CADTH is taking steps to expand literature search methods to retrieve sources of Indigenous information.
- This work aligns with CADTH's commitment to reconciliation as outlined in our Strategic Plan and Statement of Reconciliation.
- Further engagement with Indigenous communities is needed to help ensure respect is maintained in CADTH's reconciliation work moving forward.



What Was the Question?

CADTH defines equity as a state in which "everyone is treated according to their diverse needs in a way that enables all people to participate, perform, and engage." Equity is an important consideration in health technology assessment (HTA), which applies not only to the topics and conclusions of HTA work but also to the methods used. Equity considerations in the evidence used to assess health technologies can enhance decision-making, optimize resource allocation, improve patient trust, prevent unintended consequences, address disparities, and promote social justice. As a guiding principle of its Strategic Plan, CADTH has focused attention on the ways in which Indigenous Peoples experience inequity in the health care system, and on how CADTH can work toward reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples in its work, including in its Statement of Reconciliation, which calls on CADTH to "explore how Indigenous Knowledge Systems can inform how CADTH operates and strategizes, which could include [...] incorporating Indigenous research methodologies within operations of the organization."

CADTH'S Research Information Services (RIS) team conducts complex literature searches to identify the evidence used for HTA reports. The RIS team also provides access to various information resources (print collection, electronic journals, e-books, biomedical databases, and so on). Appropriate engagement with Indigenous information and Indigenous Knowledges is also a professional obligation for the RIS team. As stewards of knowledge, librarians and information specialists are at the centre of discussions about how to store, share, and use knowledge; therefore, it is important to thoughtfully consider and address how professional obligations prompt the RIS team to act with humility, integrity, and transparency when engaging with Indigenous information and Knowledges. This lens of librarianship or information science, specifically stewardship of knowledge, positions the profession to both provide access to information as well as respect the origin of that information.⁴⁻⁸ In this case, librarianship principles of good stewardship include adherence to the Canadian Federation of Library Associations' *Truth and Reconciliation Report and Recommendations*, which provides some guidance on reconciliation and decolonization for Canadian librarians.⁹

To contribute toward CADTH's reconciliation goal, the RIS team addressed the following questions:

- What sources of information can be used to find or engage with Indigenous health information?
- What are the information retrieval methods used to locate this information?
- What are ways to support respectful engagement with Indigenous Knowledges and Ways of Knowing?

The purpose of this article is not to draw definitive conclusions and recommendations; instead, it is meant to demonstrate how a library science framework can help to uncover the gaps in finding and accessing this type of information to inform a sensible and respectful approach to searching for Indigenous health information and engaging with Indigenous Knowledges.

This project began with a reconciliatory mindset, which includes acknowledging the limits of one's understanding of Indigenous Knowledges and Ways of Knowing, respecting data Sovereignty, and attempting to push back against one's own biases. "Reconciliation" has many definitions, and this project follows the definition put forward by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission. 10 The first 2 authors, both members of



the RIS team, are settlers. They engaged an Indigenous-led public relations group on the initial project plan, followed by in-depth conversations with the third author, a Strategic Partner for Indigenous Engagement and Partnerships at CADTH during the project's later stages. CADTH itself is a "settler organization," an organization that was created by and for Canadian settler governments and has since been guided by the goals, beliefs, and ways of thinking of settler Canada.

Throughout this article, the terms Indigenous (health) information and Indigenous Knowledges are used. Information regarding Indigenous health is available in many formats, including print formats (e.g., books, articles, and reports), as well as oral formats (such as lived experiences, teachings, ceremonies, and personal conversations). Some information on Indigenous health is held within Indigenous Knowledges. These Knowledges are often contrasted with western, Eurocentric biomedical knowledge as being dynamic and action-oriented, but also based on traditions sustained over thousands of years;11-15 necessarily shared;15 frequently found in oral rather than written forms;12-14,16 focused on relationships and the interrelationality of all things; 12-15,17 specific to distinct Indigenous groups and places; 15,17 and part of a cultural and/or spiritual system. 11,13,17 The plural "Indigenous Knowledges" is used to acknowledge that there is more than 1 such Knowledge and that Indigenous Peoples are not a homogeneous group. 13,18 Indigenous Peoples alone hold direct access to and ownership of Indigenous Knowledges, because Indigenous Knowledges are inherently associated with their ways of life. Indigenous Knowledges are described as the intellectual property of Indigenous communities in sources such as the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act and the Inuit Circumpolar Council's research protocols, 19,20 and guidance and protocols on good research emphasize that Indigenous communities control the use of these Knowledges (refer to, for instance, the OCAP [ownership, control, access, and possession] principles designed for First Nations research and the research protocols developed by the Inuit Circumpolar Council). 12,20-22 Therefore, non-Indigenous people cannot take ownership of Indigenous Knowledges. 11 For this reason, this project — as the work of a settler organization — can engage with Indigenous Knowledges in limited ways; it is imperative not to misinterpret or misuse these Knowledges. As a result, throughout this project, Eurocentric rather than Indigenous methods have been used.

What Did We Do?

The authors conducted 2 exploratory scans, a journal analysis, and collection development activities.

Initial Exploratory Scan

To assess the literature on searching for Indigenous information, a focused search was conducted in Library, Information Science and Technology Abstracts (LISTA) and MEDLINE for the concepts "Indigenous" and "literature searching." Guidance produced by medical library associations related to Indigenous information or sources was also informally searched, but no additional material was identified this way.

Based on the small set of results, it appears that no widely agreed-upon guidance exists on this topic in the public academic sphere. Preliminary conclusions can be drawn — first, that some search tools do exist. For instance, there are several publicly available search filters (sets of search terms pre-emptively designed



by experts to be used in multiple reviews), including 1 widely known set produced by University of Alberta librarians.^{23,24} However, Indigenous health literature is poorly indexed in biomedical databases and often difficult to retrieve.²⁵⁻²⁸ It is also frequently found outside of the published literature and therefore must be searched for outside of databases that capture only published journal articles and books.^{26,29,30} It is also important to consider the implications of search terms for Indigenous Peoples, such as the impacts of including outdated or offensive terminology.^{25,26} Finally, information specialists must reflect and self-locate when working on Indigenous-focused projects and use this reflection process to determine how to conduct this work in a respectful way.^{31,32} This can affect everything from which search terms are chosen, to how the entire review is conducted.

Journal Analysis

To address the question of how to improve retrieval of Indigenous health information, an analysis of journals and databases was conducted. A list of 32 key journals in Indigenous health was generated using multiple sources: studies from past CADTH reports focused on Indigenous health; bibliographies of key papers previously identified for this project; a list compiled by an RIS team member with previous experience in publishing; and a number of research guides on Indigenous health from university libraries in Canada, including the Xwi7xwa Library at the University of British Columbia, the only Indigenous branch of an academic library in Canada. Each journal was checked to determine if it was indexed in the following databases: PubMed, Embase, the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Scopus, PsycInfo, the Social Sciences Citation Index through Web of Science (SSCI), the Bibliography of Indigenous Peoples in North America (BIPNA), and the Informit Indigenous Collection.

This analysis found that the biomedical databases did not index most of the key journals; both PubMed and Embase indexed only 3 (less than 10%) of the journals. This exclusion might be due to the interdisciplinary scope of the journals, and some are also smaller journals that may not have the resources to seek inclusion in such databases. This finding suggests that standard guidance on searching for evidence synthesis (which generally recommends both PubMed or MEDLINE and Embase)³³⁻³⁵ may not be appropriate for Indigenous health topics. In contrast, both SSCI and BIPNA included either full or partial indexing of a significant number of key journals (21 [66%] for BIPNA and 12 [38%] for SSCI), suggesting that it is worthwhile to expand searching to nonmedical databases.

For several key journals not indexed in any of the databases, a Google custom search was created to search the root of each journal website URL. Based on initial tests, this Google custom search may be useful to retrieve nonindexed articles. However, 2 journals do not have dedicated title-based URLs and therefore need to be handsearched.

Subsequent Scan: Decolonizing Methods

As a complementary approach to the journal analysis, a sample set of evidence reviews on health topics about Indigenous communities was analyzed for commonly used sources. This exercise also identified examples of questions or issues raised about search terms, and examples of how and whether a review



might respectfully engage with Indigenous Knowledges or use decolonizing approaches (refer to McGregor et al. [2018]³⁶ for a definition of *decolonizing research*).

To create the sample set, MEDLINE was searched for evidence reviews (systematic, scoping, integrative, and so on) combined with CADTH's Canada filter;³⁷ terms for Indigenous Peoples; and a set of terms designed to retrieve articles that may have engaged more thoughtfully with the potential harms of Eurocentric methods, such as decolonizing, indigenizing, co-design, and cultural sensitivity or humility. This set of terms was included to capture reviews that took a decolonizing approach to their search methods; however, in limiting the search this way, it is likely that other reviews of potential interest were missed. In addition, a targeted Google search was conducted for reviews available in the grey literature.

The searches retrieved a total of 86 reviews. The literature sources used by the reviews (databases, grey literature sources, and specific journals) were aligned with the initial findings of the exploratory scan and journal analysis. Eighteen of the reviews incorporated some decolonizing approaches in their search methods. Examples included: receiving input from Indigenous advisors or Elders on search terms; deliberately including a wider range of grey literature; acknowledging the difficulties with search terms, such as whether to use outdated and offensive terminology; and reaching out directly to Indigenous partners to identify sources of information. If determined to be appropriate and of value by the HTA producer and Indigenous community partners, methods such as these examples could be incorporated into HTA projects.

Library Resource Acquisition

In tandem with analyzing methods used in literature searching, collection development activities were undertaken to expand content focusing on Indigenous health topics, Indigenous research methodology, and Indigenous Knowledges in the CADTH collection. These works were selected from library guides from Canadian universities; bibliographies of Indigenous Knowledges; online library catalogues; discussions with internal colleagues; and browsing Indigenous-owned bookstores, such as GoodMinds, Strong Nations, and Iron Dog Books. To ensure Indigenous perspectives were honoured, many purchased works were authored by Indigenous community members, centring lived experiences of these communities. When feasible, physical books were purchased from Indigenous-owned bookstores. As well, CADTH's library catalogue was updated with a progressive and reconciliatory system, based in nonharmful nomenclature and standardized vocabulary to remove potentially harmful language. 9,38-43

External Conversations

To build a community of practice and not rely solely on quantitative methods, the authors held informal conversations with colleagues working in evidence synthesis to gather common practices in searching for Indigenous health information. The authors are continuing to reach out to librarian colleagues in evidence synthesis and are also planning meetings with colleagues who identify as Indigenous to learn directly from them, since Indigenous people's own perspectives and experiences must be centred in this work as much as possible.



What Did We Find?

Several conclusions can be drawn from this initial work. First, there are a number of different sources for finding Indigenous health information. Second, standard approaches to information retrieval in HTA will not reach some of these sources, so it is important to employ creative search approaches, such as handsearching relevant journals and thorough grey literature searching. Third, Indigenous Knowledges and Ways of Knowing go beyond Indigenous information contained in Eurocentric biomedical types of publications, although the 2 can and do intersect. Fourth, based on the limited evidence retrieved in the scans conducted for this project, discussions of methodology regarding literature searching on topics related to Indigenous Peoples are limited in published literature. This is especially true for questions of how and whether to search for Indigenous Knowledges, although the authors do not know whether such discussion is taking place in other environments, such as within Indigenous communities and between Indigenous researchers.

Finally, the authors learned that while it is important to improve methods for information retrieval relating to Indigenous health information, development of research methods on the use of Indigenous *Knowledges*, as a type of intellectual property, must be led by Indigenous people, with settler organizations supporting that work where appropriate. 11-13,16,17,21

What Does This Mean?

This project has revealed that searching for Indigenous health information requires engaging with the complexities of Eurocentric research and its impacts on underrepresented communities, particularly when interacting with Indigenous Knowledges. As a result of this work, CADTH's RIS team has included new sources of Indigenous information and Indigenous Knowledges that are available in the literature, whether published in journals or in the grey literature. Searching for Indigenous health information at this time is uncertain and fluid, and therefore requires a nimble and adaptive approach. This work will contribute to broadening the evidence base that CADTH uses for its reports, providing a foundation for equity-focused HTA.

This project is an ongoing process, and we expect that our internal approach to searching on Indigenous topics will regularly be updated as our own awareness evolves. One future action the RIS team intends to take is a review of CADTH's *Indigenous Peoples — Canada* filter. The authors also intend to reach out to international colleagues in future stages of this project. Respectful engagement with Indigenous information and Indigenous Knowledges is an area of growing interest, not only in Canada, but also in other countries with significant Indigenous populations and similar experiences of colonization (refer to, for example, the LIt.Search project at the Lowitja Institute⁴⁴ and the recently published *Indigenous Referencing Guidance for Indigenous Knowledges* produced by CAVAL).⁴⁵ Although there are important differences between Indigenous Peoples across the world, work done in other countries can provide valuable learnings.



We recommend that those participating in literature searches on Indigenous topics thoughtfully consider the limitations of their perspectives as they conduct this work. If you would like more details about this work, please contact requests@cadth.ca.

CADTH's RIS team has applied librarianship principles as guideposts for providing library services for the organization,⁴⁻⁸ identifying gaps in information access and providing that information where appropriate. Adhering to evolving librarianship principles requires CADTH to balance both the equity consideration of providing information from all voices, especially underrepresented ones, and respecting Indigenous ownership of data and Knowledges. CADTH must respond to Canada's commitments to reconciliation with First Nations, Métis, and Inuit Peoples, in particular in alignment with article 31.1 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act, which states in part that "Indigenous peoples have the right to maintain, control, protect and develop their [...] traditional knowledge. [...] They also have the right to maintain, control, protect and develop their intellectual property over such cultural heritage, traditional knowledge, and traditional cultural expressions." These efforts require listening in new ways, forming meaningful partnerships, and acting with humility, integrity, and transparency.

For CADTH, this project represents a significant first step in fulfilling its commitment to reconciliation. This work also serves as an example of the organization acknowledging its limitations, the harms it has caused and continues to cause within its work, and its proactive move to begin to address them. As organizations work toward reconciliation, avoiding harms and respecting Indigenous authority requires this type of proactive thought and deliberate action to address.



References

- 1. McGurn S. Equity in evidence shouldn't be an afterthought. *World Evidence-Based Healthcare Day* 2023; https://worldebhcday.org/blog/2023/equity-evidence-shouldnt-be-afterthought. Accessed 2023 Oct 3.
- 2. CADTH. Ahead of the Curve: Shaping Future-Ready Health Systems. 2022–2025 Strategic Plan. 2022; https://strategicplan.cadth.cad/. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 3. CADTH. CADTH Statement of Reconciliation. 2023; https://www.cadth.ca/cadth-statement-reconciliation. Accessed 2023 Sep 26.
- 4. Lankes RD. The New Librarianship Field Guide. Cambridge (MA): The MIT Press; 2016.
- 5. LIS Education Network. Five Laws of Library Science by Ranganathan. 2023; https://www.lisedunetwork.com/five-laws-of-library-science/. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 6. Gorman M. Five new laws of librarianship. Am Libr. 1995 Sep:784-785.
- 7. Kamat NM. The evolution of the five laws of library science. *The Navhind Times*. 2018 Aug 12. https://www.navhindtimes.in/2018/08/12/magazines/panorama/the-evolution-of-the-five-laws-of-library-science/. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 8. Wikipedia. Five laws of library science. 2023; https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Five_laws_of_library_science. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- Callison C, CFLA-FCAB Truth & Reconciliation Committee. Truth & Reconciliation Report and Recommendations. Canadian Federation of Library Associations-Fédération canadienne des associations de bibliothèques (CFLA-FCAB); 2017: http://cfla-fcab.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Truth-and-Reconciliation-Committee-Report-and-Recommendations-ISBN1.pdf. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 10. Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future: summary of the final report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Winnipeg (MB): Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada; 2015: https://ehprnh2mwo3.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Executive_Summary_English_Web.pdf. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 11. McGregor D. Indigenous Knowledge Systems in Environmental Governance in Canada. KULA: Knowledge Creation, Dissemination, and Preservation Studies. 2021;5(1).
- 12. Battiste M, Henderson JSY. *Protecting Indigenous Knowledge and Heritage: a global challenge.* Saskatoon (SK): Purich Publishing Ltd.; 2008.
- Kovach M. Indigenous methodologies: characteristics, conversations, and contexts. 2nd ed. Toronto (ON): University of Toronto Press; 2021.
- 14. Absolon KE (Minogiizhigokwe). Kaandossiwin: how we come to know Indigenous re-Search methodologies. Black Point (NS) and Winnipeg (MB): Fernwood Publishing; 2022.
- 15. Smylie J, Olding M, Ziegler C. Sharing What We Know about Living a Good Life: Indigenous Approaches to Knowledge Translation. *J Can Health Libr Assoc.* 2014;35:16-23. PubMed
- 16. Callison C, Ludbrook A, Owen V, Nayyer K. Engaging Respectfully with Indigenous Knowledges: Copyright, Customary Law, and Cultural Memory Institutions in Canada. *KULA: Knowledge Creation, Dissemination, and Preservation Studies*. 2021;5(1).
- 17. Wilson S. Research is ceremony: Indigenous research methods. Halifax (NS) and Winnipeg (MB): Fernwood Publishing; 2008.
- 18. Lavallée LF. Practical Application of an Indigenous Research Framework and Two Qualitative Indigenous Research Methods: Sharing Circles and Anishnaabe Symbol-Based Reflection. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. 2009;8(1):21-40.
- 19. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act, S.C. 2021, c. 14 (2023 Sep 13). https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/U-2.2/. Accessed 2023 Sep 26.
- 20. Circumpolar Inuit Protocols for Equitable and Ethical Engagement. Ottawa (ON): Inuit Circumpolar Council; 2022: https://www.inuitcircumpolar.com/project/circumpolar-inuit-protocols-for-equitable-and-ethical-engagement/. Accessed 2023 Sep 28.
- 21. First Nations Information Governance Centre. The First Nations Principles of OCAP®. 2023; https://fnigc.ca/ocap-training/. Accessed 2023 Sep 27.



- 22. Read K, McDonald G, Mackay B, Barsky E. A Commitment to First Nations Data Governance: A Primer for Health Librarians. *J Can Health Libr Assoc.* 2014;35(1):11-15.
- 23. Campbell S, Dorgan M, Tjosvold L. Creating Provincial and Territorial Search Filters to Retrieve Studies Related to Canadian Indigenous Peoples from Ovid MEDLINE. *J Can Health Libr Assoc.* 2014;35(1):5-10.
- 24. Campbell S, Dorgan M, Tjosvold L. Challenges in Creating Canadian Indigenous Peoples Filters for Medline. *J Can Health Libr Assoc.* 2013;34(2):91.
- 25. Soto A, Heart Sanchez AB, Mueller-Alexander JM, Martin J. Researching Native Americans: Reflections on Vocabulary, Search Strategies, and Technology. *Online Searcher*. 2021;45(5):10-19.
- 26. Harding L, Marra CJ, Illes J. Establishing a comprehensive search strategy for Indigenous health literature reviews. *Syst Rev.* 2021;10(1):115. PubMed
- 27. Sladek RM, Tieman JJ, Tyndall J, Phillips PA. Searching MEDLINE for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health literature: questionable sensitivity. *Health Info Libr J.* 2013;30(2):138-148. PubMed
- 28. Hawkins B, Bartlett L, Brudie S, Murray K. Reflecting on the First Steps: A Structured Analysis of Medical Subject Headings (MeSH). *J Can Health Libr Assoc.* 2016;37(2).
- 29. Rosewarne C. Finding your voice: Placing and sourcing an Aboriginal health organisation's published and grey literature. *Australian Aboriginal Studies*. 2009;2009(1):42-53.
- 30. Street JM, Braunack-Mayer AJ, Facey K, Ashcroft RE, Hiller JE. Virtual community consultation? Using the literature and weblogs to link community perspectives and health technology assessment. *Health Expect*. 2008;11(2):189-200. PubMed
- 31. Blair J, Wong D. Moving in the Circle: Indigenous Solidarity for Canadian Libraries. *Partnership: The Canadian Journal of Library and Information Practice and Research.* 2018;12(2).
- 32. Lee D. Research and Indigenous Librarianship in Canada. Canadian Journal of Academic Librarianship. 2019;5(0):1-22.
- 33. Levebre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al (ed). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. London (GB): The Cochrane Collaboration; 2022: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current/chapter-04. Accessed 2023 Sep 29.
- 34. EUnetHTA JA3WP6B2-2 Authoring Team. Process of information retrieval for systematic reviews and health technology assessments on clinical effectiveness. (Methodological Guidelines). Diemen (NL): EUnetHTA; 2019: https://www.eunethta.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/EUnetHTA_Guideline_Information_Retrieval_v2-0.pdf. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 35. Developing NICE guidelines: the manual. (*Process and methods PMG20*). London (GB): National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2023: https://www.nice.org.uk/process/pmg20/chapter/identifying-the-evidence-literature-searching-and-evidence-submission. Accessed 2023 Sep 29.
- 36. McGregor D, Restoule J-P, Johnston R, eds. *Indigenous research: theories, practices, and relationships*. Toronto (ON): Canadian Scholars; 2018.
- 37. CADTH. Canada Standard MEDLINE, Embase, PsycInfo. (CADTH Search Filters Database) 2023; https://searchfilters.cadth.ca/link/8. Accessed 2022 Dec 20.
- 38. Bullard J, Watson B, Purdome C. Misrepresentation in the Surrogate: Author Critiques of "Indians of North America" Subject Headings. Cataloging & Classification Quarterly. 2022;60(6/7):599-619.
- 39. Fletcher KE. Prejudice in the Library Catalog: The Representation of the Lumbee Indian Tribe in North Carolina Library Catalogs [thesis]. Chapel Hill (NC): University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill; 2013: https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/concern/masters_papers/8336h554j. Accessed 2023 Sep 28.
- 40. Doyle AM, Lawson K, Dupont S. Indigenization of Knowledge Organization at the Xwi7xwa Library. *Journal of Library & Information Studies*. 2015;13(2):107-134.
- 41. Lee D. Indigenous Knowledge Organization: A Study of Concepts, Terminology, Structure and (Mostly) Indigenous Voices. Partnership: The Canadian Journal of Library & Information Practice & Research. 2011;6(1):1-33.
- 42. Bryant M. Whāia te Mātauranga. New Zealand Library & Information Management Journal. 2016;56(1):3-14.



- 43. Campbell HM, Dieckman CS, Teal W, Wintermute HE. Improving Subject Headings for Iowa Indigenous Peoples. *Library Resources & Technical Services*. 2022;66(1):48-59.
- 44. Lowitja Institute. Llt.Search. 2023; https://www.lowitja.org.au/page/research/lit-search. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.
- 45. Indigenous Archives Collective, Faulkhead S, Thorpe K, Sentance N, Booker L, Barrowcliffe R. Indigenous Referencing Guidance for Indigenous Knowledges. Ultimo (AU): Indigenous Archives Collective and the UTS Jumbunna Institute of Indigenous Education and Research; 2023: https://members.caval.edu.au/indigenous-referencing-guidance. Accessed 2023 Sep 20.

Authors: Melissa Walter, Caitlyn Ford, Murray Maracle

Disclaimer: The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up-to-date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario. Canada

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian Copyright Act and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to Requests@CADTH.ca